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BUILT HERITAGE INVENTORY RECORD FORM
Claudelands Substation (former Hamilton City Council Electrical Department)

WHG 087

Building/ Site Name:
Former names:

Claudelands Substation (former HCCED))
Former- HCC Electrical Department Substation; No.1 Substation

Address:

732 Grey Street (corner Claudelands Road)
corner of Grey Street and Claudelands Road

X @ .

The building is to the left of the red pin.

District Plan reference/ category

Legal Description

Lots 1-3 DP 15048 and Lot 2 DP 3726

Zoning

Proposed District Plan Claudelands Commercial HHA

Listed Heritage New Zealand/ NZAA Site/ Scheduled with HCC

No

Location in city map

| Date/s of construction
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1947-8 and 1951 (A de Lisle). 9" May 1947 Permit

Architect /Designer/ Engineer/Builder:

1947: unknown/ Builder: Frankton Associated Builders
1950 Architect : Aubrey de Lisle!

Engineer: -

Electrical Manager: likely Israel Webb HBED/HCCED

Building type/s & current use
Electrical Substation and transformer site

Visible materials & heritage fabric if known
Steel window joinery, painted exterior walls, parapets, roofing (concealed
hip), transformer area, interior?

Extent includes main building and front yard on Grey Street.
Excludes utility area. But should include any equipment and fittings that date to
1950 or before. Excludes single-storey building to south.

Associated Places

Transformer Building Seddon Road , H87

Former Peachgrove Road CWEPB Depot Peachgrove Road

HCCED Substations (see appended List in comparative)

CWEPB Administration Building Anglesea Street Hamilton (Medlab)
CWEPB Substation Kent Street Frankton

CWEPB Whitiora School sub station

Proposed extent Historical Background
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Prior to 1864 the land belonged to Ngaati Wairere, Ngaati Haanui and
Ngaati Koura. There were gullies and streams, peat swamps and native
bush, close to the Waikato river and established paa nearby.

The Claudelands area was outside of the 1864 town of Hamilton East. But
in 1884 the railway branch line from the NIMT came across the Waikato
River from Frankton and a station was established at Claudelands and
settlement, with another station a few miles down the line at Ruakura.

The area was surveyed and a small centre was established around the
southern side of the line. This included small shops and a church just
south of the substation site.

The area from the Waikato River south to Gibbons Creek and the gully
formed the southern extent of Claudelands with Peachgrove Road the
eastern boundary against the town of Hamilton East, and Boundary Road
the northern boundary.

Development of Electricity

The 1935 map shows the area around the site:
The first electricity for public sale in New Zealand was in Reefton in 1888, but

it was not until another decade before others sought to provide a supply.
Coal-based gas was the main power supply, as it was in the town of Frankton
and later Hamilton.

There were new inventions radio, telegraph, telephone and automobiles.
Electricity was part of these inventions and was the likely power source.
Power was provided to the Waikato under the Horahora Power Station
scheme which was set up by the Waihi Gold-mining Company to power the
Waihi mines. But it required infrastructure to link it to suppliers. It was the
first large-scale North Island hydro plant, the first development on the
Waikato River. Horahora was bought by the government in 1919. It was to set
up the Waikato under the government’s Department of Electricity as the
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central supplier. By 1925 it was supplying dairy farmers and dairy factories in
the Waikato and Thames Valley. Arapuni was completed in 1929 followed by
other government hydroelectric stations.

In 1912 Frankton Borough had their own electricity power supply and by
1913, when a plant was set up in Kent Street, Frankton, under the Frankton
Town Board and consulting Electrical Engineer J Fenn and AB Beale
Mechanical Engineer.’ Israel Webster was the deputy engineer and would
become the Chief Engineer at the HBED with nearly 40 years of service in
HB/HCCEB. i

Hamilton Borough amalgamated with Frankton in 1917 to obtain their
power supply, although the first Hamilton residents had power in 1916.
The Hamilton and Frankton power authorities amalgamated in 1917.

In 1920 Waikato Electric Power Board was constituted.

By 1921 there was a substation on Seddon Road.V The Transformer
Building on Seddon Road was on the boundary of Frankton and Hamilton.
There was also the steam driven powerhouse at the NZ Co-operative Dairy
Company. The Waikato Hospital had its own transformer from 1911.

Frankton Town Board Electricity Board and Hamilton Borough Electricity
Department.

The CWEPB was also established in 1920, after the authorities met to see
about supplying Waikato and Waipa counties (parts of Hamilton city today
were in the two counties). Initially named the Waikato Electric Power
Board and later CWEPB, under R Hinton as chair, and was closed in 1989
after amalgamation with HCC ED, under chair Ross Jansen, former Mayor
of Hamilton."

The Hamilton Borough Council (HBC) did not join in 1921 and had its own

board. HBC had limits to within five miles of the sub station, while CWEPB
moved into the Waikato acquiring Ngaruawahia borough and Waipa, then
Huntly. Customers were primarily rural until after WWII.

In 1939 the first control system was set up at the State Hydro Electric
headquarters at Claudelands for reticulation where prior the station was
the controller.”

In 1945 HCED had over 600 customers and 76 miles of line while CW had
over 8000 and 954 miles of line.¥ By 1955 CWEPB had over 12,500
customers and 1,636 miles of lines. The organisations were separate, with
HCCED having a circular system and CWEPB a radial system suitable for
long distances for its rural customers.

There was great expansion, in both the regional boards and Department
improving existing and providing new stations with Karapiro in 1947.

The No.1 Substation (HCCED)

A photograph dated 1948 shows the building with power line posts in
front and cable being laid. In the late 1940s there were power restrictions
and power cuts, but new substations were being built (HCC). Rationing
remained in place until mid 1950s.

A new switching station was constructed by HCCED on the corner of Grey
Street and Claudelands Road, and cables laid to the State Hydro Electric
Department switch-yards in Ruakura Road."! A permit was issued in May
1947 and again in September for construction of a building. Aubrey de
Lisle notes 1951 for his work.
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Aerial of Claudelands in 1953 (retrieved from retrolens.nz)

HCCED built a number of substations in the 1950s as the town expanded into
a city.

The CWEPB Depot was built in the late 1950s in Peachgrove Road, opposite
Boys High. By 1962 CWEPB had 19,417 consumers.*

The CWEPB provided a show room with appliances to buy and provided
servicing. Their depot, designed by Aubrey de Lisle, was replaced in 1956.

In 1956 the Stanton Report recommended the amalgamation of HCCED and
CWEPB, but it did not happen.

The HCCED was considered by its customers to be theirs and part of their
community. It also had its own internal community and long-serving staff.

In 1989 the HCCED amalgamated with CWEPB to form Waikato Electricity
Limited, and moved to WEL House in Victoria Street north. It was sold off to
private shareholders and WEL Energy Trust. Its customers, who saw it as a
public board, were very annoyed.

Nationally it was a grim time in the 1980s and early 1990s as the new
Labour government sold off the public assets, with many local bodies and
government department in a process of mass redundancies. The CWEPB
Peachgrove Depot was unused and sold. Many staff in the electrical field,
Department of Electricity and Electricity Boards, lost their jobs. From late
1991 WEL moved to contracting, and the era ended for many and for the
apprenticeships which had been an important part of HCCED and CWEPB.

Architects

The building is shown in a photo dated 1947. It is documented that a permit
was actioned in 1947, but the designer is not documented.

The architect of the 1950 building is recorded as Aubrey de Lisle, however it is
unclear whether this is the two-storey building or the single-storey building to
the south. Aubrey de Lisle was the architect of part of the HCCED Claudelands
sub- station and he states the building was built in 1951 (references A de Lisle
List of Works 1945-1985). Further buildings were completed by de Lisle for
the Central Waikato Electric Power Board (CWEPB) at Raglan (1958) and
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Huntly (1958), the main Administration Building in Peachgrove Road Hamilton
(1961-62)* and the main Depot in Peachgrove Road from 1955 to 1985. De
Lisle designed two additional substations for CWEPB at Frankton (Kent Street) rf

in 1967 and at Whitiora School in 1971. The new 1956 CWEPB Administration
Building still stands today on Peachgrove Road as a long single-storey
Modernist design, but was sold off in the 1990s and adapted for new uses.

Builders (1947, 1950)
1947 Frankton Associated Builders
1950 permit issued 1950 to HCC

HCCED

It is presumed that the HCCED Engineer was Israel Webster, who had
begun his career with Frankton Borough.

Looking towards the south-east corner of Claudelands and Grey Streets. The
building on the corner is the Claudelands Road electricity sub-station.
HCL_MO00277.34

Outside the No.1 Substation in 1948 laying the cables.
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Station Road in 1969 looking west to Grey Street. 1968. HCL_04552

Physical Description of place

The building and its associated site is located on a corner site in the
Claudelands commercial area. The place is made up of a two-storey
Modernist building with a single-storey lean-to addition to the south facing
Heaphy Terrace. The main building has a curved facade on the corner, steel
windows (likely Crittal) and a staircase to the upper floor off the street. The
roof is behind a parapet. The finish to the building may have been a plaster
finish, but is currently painted. Joinery appears original. To the east of the
main building is an area of substation.

The interior of the building has not been viewed.

In 1953 the site context was very different; Grey Street was the main road
with no direct connection along the railway line to the railway bridge. The
Claudelands railway station was still there on the northern side of the line.

The small commercial centre of Claudelands was similar to today, a mix of
houses and shops.
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PROPOSED HERITAGE ASSESSMENT EVALUATION

The heritage significance of built heritage places has been assessed based on
evaluation against the following individual heritage criteria. A place must meet
one or more of the criteria at the level of “High” significance or above to be
eligible for inclusion within Schedule 8A.

While a place only has to meet one of the criteria, in practice it will usually satisfy
multiple criteria. The evaluation criteria are not weighted or hierarchical. There is
no correct number or combination of values required to determine overall
significance.

Rankings of Significance

Rankings for built heritage places listed in Schedule 8A have been established as
follows:

Plan Ranking A: Built heritage places of outstanding heritage
significance locally, regionally or nationally.

Plan Ranking B: Built heritage places of high heritage significance
locally, regionally or nationally.

The below scale represents the levels of significance against which built heritage
places shall be considered for inclusion on Schedule 8A.

®  Outstanding significance.

®  High significance.

e Medium significance.

® Low significance.

®  None/No significance.

e Un-assessed significance.
A comparative analysis has been included, where possible, noting that there is no
Waikato Regional Heritage Inventory, and limited recent Heritage New Zealand
Listings.

The following is the evaluation against the criteria.

Heritage Assessment Criteria

a. Historic Qualities

The place or area is directly associated with, or has a direct relationship to, an
important person, group, institution, event or activity, or reflects important
aspects of local, regional or national history, including development and
settlement patterns, transportation routes and social or economic trends.

The No.1 substation is representative of the works of the Hamilton City
Electrical Department, which started from an amalgamation with the
Frankton Town Board who had invested in electrical power in 1912.

HCCED was one of the Waikato’s local power distributors and serviced
Hamilton Borough and then the city. The original administration building in
Alma Street moved several times including to the council buildings.

The place is directly associated with the Hamilton City Council Electrical
Department and the distribution to Hamilton city of electricity. The Hamilton
Borough Electrical Department was established in 1917 and as Hamilton City
Electrical Department provided services until 1989 when it amalgamated with
CWEPB and was sold. It was the electrical department which serviced the city
of Hamilton. The department was part of the regional history of electricity
supply which along with CWEPB, came from the Department of Electricity at
Ruakura and was then distributed by the two Boards. It was a critical element
in the development of both commercial businesses and industries in Hamilton
city. The provision of power allowed residential use that make daily lives
easier.

Initially Hamilton Borough had only one substation, the transformer building,
on the town belt reserve between Hamilton and Frankton in Seddon Road,
with the gas-fired Frankton Borough plant the first several years before.

The HBED brought the cabling from Claudelands to the Seddon Road building.
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A new growth period for electrical industry buildings began with the
Claudelands No.1 Substation. Built in 1947-8 it was the first substantial
substation building for HCCED, and only known two-storey building. It was
followed by other suburban substations.

The 1950 building work is associated with architect Aubrey de Lisle who was a
prominent Waikato architect.

particular time, is directly associated with scientific or technical innovations or
achievements or is associated with scientific “break-through”. The place uses
unique or uncommon building materials, or demonstrates an innovative method
of construction, or is an early example of the use of a particular building
technique.

It is unknown if the infrastructure within the building and in the outdoor court
retains any original gearing and whether any technical achievements are
demonstrated. Further research is required.

Level of significance Unknown

Level of significance  High

b. Physical /Aesthetic/Architectural Qualities

The place or area is a notable or representative example of:

(i) A significant development period or activity; and/or

(ii) Distinctive or special attributes of an aesthetic or functional nature; and/or
(iii) The work of a notable architect, designer, engineer or builder.

The No.1 substation is a representative example of:
(i) A significant development period in electricity supply to Hamilton city and
the activities associated with electrical infrastructure

e. Archaeological Qualities

The potential of the place or area to define or expand knowledge of earlier
human occupation, activities or events through investigation using archaeological
methods, or to provide evidence to address archaeological research questions.
For example, but not limited to: The place or area is registered by Heritage New
Zealand for its archaeological values or is recorded by the New Zealand
Archaeological Association Site Recording Scheme, or is an 'archaeological site' as
defined by the Heritage New Zealand Pouhere Taonga Act 2014.

Level of significance =~ Medium

The area around Claudelands was part of the lands of Ngati Wairere until
confiscation in 1864.
There were buildings evident by 1900 on the land nearby.

c. Context Qualities

The place or area is an important landmark or feature or contributes to or is
associated with a wider historical theme, traditional, or cultural context, or
physical setting.

Level of significance unknown

Sited on the corner of the Claudelands shopping centre the building is a
prominent local landmark, that contributes to the continuum of the suburban
centre.

Level of significance = Medium

d. Technological Qualities
The place or area shows a high degree of creative or technical achievement at a

f. Cultural Qualities

The place or area is important or significant:

(i) As a focus of cultural sentiment; and/or

(i) As a context for community identity or sense of place, and provides evidence
of social, cultural or historical continuity; and/or

(iii) For having symbolic or commemorative significance to people who use or
have used it, or to the descendants of such people. The place or area has a high
degree of interpretative potential to increase understanding of past lifestyles or
events.

The place has some qualities as a landmark in Claudelands, marking the
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corner of the Claudelands shopping centre.

Level of significance  Unknown

g. Scientific Qualities

The potential for the place or area to contribute scientific information about how
the natural environment has influenced, events, phases or activities related to
development.

unknown

Level of significance  Unknown

d. Technological Qualities

The place or area shows a high degree of creative or technical achievement at a
particular time, is directly associated with scientific or technical innovations or
achievements or is associated with scientific “break-through”. The place uses
unique or uncommon building materials, or demonstrates an innovative method
of construction, or is an early example of the use of a particular building
technique.

The place is associated with the mid-century distribution of Hamilton city’s
electricity and its associated technology.

It is unknown if the equipment inside the building has technological qualities
and has elements which date from the 1950s. Further research would be
required.

Level of significance  Unknown

Comparative Analysis

There is one scheduled example of the similar type of place on the Hamilton
City District Plan which is the Frankton Transformer Building on Seddon Road
which dates from about 1918. It is scheduled in the Operative District Plan as
H87 Rank B. It is said to be one of the earliest in the Waikato, and possibly
New Zealand. The third HB building is the 1928 Bryce Street transformer
substation, but is not scheduled and is now highly modified .

The other electrical building is the former NZ Co-operative Dairy Factory and
Electrical Station at the former factories site which is scheduled. This provided
power to the Frankton New Zealand Co-operative Dairy factories and
equipment but was not a reticulation supply for customers in the city.

The following are the buildings known to have been built by HBC/HCC ED:

WHG 087

¢ 1917-18 Transformer Building on town belt reserve Scheduled

(Frankton/Hamilton Borough boundary)

1928 Bryce Street Transformer House

1947 No.1 Substation Claudelands

1951 Harwood Street substation

1953 Ellis Street , Frankton substation and switchboard

1955 Hukanui Road

1954 Lincoln Street addition

1955 Pembroke Street transformer sub station

1955 Naylor Street transformer substation

1955 Pitt Street transformer substation

Date: August 2024
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1956 Addition to Bryce St

1958 Edgecumbe Street substation

1959 Marama street

Aubrey de Lisle designed two other CWEPB substations at Huntly and Raglan.
Further research is required to identify whether these were new buildings.
His later CWEPB substations at Kent Street and at Whitiora School are much
smaller structures and are not an appropriate comparison.

The other supplier in Hamilton in the 20t century, apart from Frankton
Borough until circa 1920, was the CWEPB which built substation and
switchboard, and transformer substations. Only one electrical building, the
Seddon Road Transformer Station is scheduled in Hamilton, but it is a building
of its era, and small in scale with a rough-cast plaster finish, compared to the
1940s No.1 Substation which is a two -storey Modernist building designed for
a corner site.

The Modernist Claudelands Substation building design is different in scale and
design to the other known HCCED electrical substations in Hamilton city.

The stripped classical Modernist style of architecture used is similar to other
utilitarian designs completed for Hamilton City, including the 1950s
Waterworks and the CWEPB Headquarters in Peachgrove Road, and may be
the work of the firm of Edgecumbe and White, with Aubrey de Lisle noted as
completing an electricity building in 1950.

The place remains in use today.

SUMMARY TABLE OF HERITAGE QUALITIES

The place is considered to have heritage significance in relation to the
following criteria:

WHG 087

Heritage Criteria Significance Level

a Historic Qualities High

b Physical/Aesthetic/ Architectural Qualities | Medium

¢ Context Qualities Medium

d Technological Qualities Further research required

e Archaeological Qualities Unknown
f Cultural Qualities Unknown
g Scientific Qualities Unknown

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE:

The No.1 Substation at Claudelands is representative of a period of
growth of the Hamilton City Electricity Department which serviced
Hamilton City with electricity distribution. It is part of a continuum of
providing electricity supply and associated underground infrastructure for
customers within the city. It is a distinctive Claudelands landmark on a
prominent corner in the Claudelands commercial area.

Date: August 2024
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The place and its historic value is representative of the role of local body
electricity supply and its development as Hamilton changed into a city,
and the people who developed the service.

RECOMMENDATION

The Claudelands Substation meets the threshold in the PDP for scheduling
as a Category B built heritage place.

It is recommended that the place is included in Appendix 8A based on the
following heritage qualities/value:

a) Historic Qualities

Associated items are noted:

FBC Electricity site Kent Street

Former Transformer Building Seddon Road (H87)

Former NZCDC Electrical Building(H62, H85)

CWEPB Former Peachgrove Road Depot building (not scheduled)
CWEPB Kent Street substation (not scheduled)

CWEPB Whitiora School substation (not scheduled)

Proposed extent (setting) is shown on Extent map

Overall Level of Heritage significance High

Sources for information:
WEL Networks, Wiring up the Waikato. Published by WEL Networks Ltd, undated (2004)

Williams, Lyn “A Thematic Review of the History of Hamilton”, a technical report for
Hamilton City Council (Draft) November 2021

Gibbons, PJ Astride the River; a History of Hamilton 1977

References: Refer to end notes

Form prepared: 15 06 2024 (proposed revised criteria 2023)
Surveyor/ Researcher: Laura Kellaway/ Lyn Williams
Reviewer:

Site visits: From street only

Notes:

Places have been viewed from the public domain, and using available on line
resources, unless otherwise stated. Where an on-site visit was undertaken,
agreed with the owner, it is recorded below.

Interiors have not been assessed.
The condition of the buildings is not included within the assessments.

Records have been retrieved where possible.
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i Aubrey de Lisle List of Projects 1945-1985
i Wiring up the Waikato p.86
it Wiring up the Waikato p.8

v Building may have been built 1917-1918. L Kellaway. Wiring up the
Waikato p.10
v Wiring up the Waikato p 85

Vi Wiring up the Waikato p.20

Vit Wiring up the Waikato p.17

Vil Wiring up the Waikato p.20

X Wiring up the Waikato p.31

x Med Laboratory (1998)

Xi The transformer Building on corner of Bryce and Tristram Street may
have been substantially demolished.
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